CAPSULE SUMMARY
BA584- BA-3043

Valley View Farm

324 Gun Road

Baltimore, Baltimore County

Ca. 1891

Private

Constructed circa 1891, the dwelling known as Valley View Farm is located at 324 Gun Road in Election District
One, along the border of Election District Thirteen in Baltimore County. The property is located near Avalon and the site of
Dorsey’s Forge and the later Avalon Nail and Iron Company. The property was originally part of a twenty-acre tract purchased
by Frank Hildebrandt from John C. Smith, along Sulfur Spring Road. The Hildebrandts constructed a dwelling shortly after
purchasing the property from Smith’s widow in 1880. In 1895, the Hildebrandts defaulted on their mortgage loan and the
property was sold at public auction to Eugene Grannan in 1899. Soon thereafter, the property became known as Valley View
Farm. After successive ownership by the Gambrills, Ehlens, Wrights, Dames, Schaars, and the Longs, the property passed to
the Baldwins, who currently retain ownership, in 1954, Valley View Farm is fashionably detailed in the Queen Anne style.

The Valley View Farm, a late 19th century Queen Anne style dwelling, , is sited at the top of a hill that sits back from
Gun Road and is accessible by a long, winding driveway that ascends the hill and approaches the south elevation of the house.
The two-and-a-half story, five-bay wide, single-pile main block of the building has a two-and-a-half story ell that projects from
the north elevation nearly flush with the east elevation. This portion of the building sits on a coursed rubble stone foundation.
The first story of the wood frame main block and ell are clad in weatherboard, while the second and attic stories are patterned
with square butt and fish-scale wood shingles. A two-story shed-roofed extension projects from the north elevation of the main
block. A one-story addition with a shed roof was constructed on the north elevation of the building. Circa 1965, a one-story
enclosed porch was added to the north and east elevations of the ell. The main block of the building has a side gable roof with
a projecting, intersecting gable peak at the center. Two gabled dormers flank this front-facing gable. A full-width, five-bay
wide porch with a hipped roof spans the fagade. One interior end brick chimney rises through the roof ridge of the west
elevation. The east elevation of the main block is bisected by one shouldered exterior end stretcher bond brick chimney. An
off-center exterior end concrete block chimney rises along the north elevation of the ell. To the northwest of the house is a
circa 1910 barn. Three additional outbuildings, both of which are non-historic, are in the vicinity of the barn. To the southwest

of the house is a rectangular in-ground pool that also dates to the latter half of the 20th century.
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1. Name of Property (indicate preferred name)
historic Valley View Farm (preferred)
other Hildebrandt House

2. Location

street and number 324 Gun Road

not for publication

city, town Baltimore

_ - Vicinity

county Baltimore County

3. Owner of Pro pe rty (give names and mailing addresses of all owners)

name Gary M. and Thomas M. Baldwin, Trustees

street and number 324 Gun Road

telephone 410.242.8416

city, town Baltimore state MD

zip code 21227-3821

4. Location of Legal Description

courthouse, registry of deeds, etc. Baltimore County Courthouse

liber 13280 folio 706

city, town Towson tax map 108 tax parcel

585 tax ID number 1900005098

5. Primary Location of Additional Data

Contributing Resource in National Register District

Contributing Resource in Local Historic District

Determined Eligible for the National Register/Maryland Register
Determined Ineligible for the National Register/Maryland Register
Recorded by HABS/HAER

Historic Structure Report or Research Report at MHT

Other:

6. Classification

Category Ownership Current Function Resource Count
— —district — —public — —agriculture ____landscape Contributing Noncontributing
__X__building(s) _ X _private — _—commerceftrade ____ recreation/culture . —32 buildings
— _structure ___ both — —defense religion Ry — . sites
— _site __X domestic __ social 2 structures
— __ object — education — transportation objects
__funerary — —work in progress -2 —4 Total
_____government — _—unknown '
— —health care —  vacant/not in use Number of Contributing Resources

— _—industry — —other:

previously listed in the Inventory
1
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7. Description Inventory No. BA-1584—
Condition
___excellent ___deteriorated
___good ___ruins
___ fair X _altered

Prepare both a one paragraph summary and a comprehensive description of the resource and its various elements as it
exists today.

The Valley View Farm, a late 19th century Queen Anne style dwelling, constructed circa 1891, is sited at the top of a hill
that sits back from Gun Road and is accessible by a long, winding driveway that ascends the hill and approaches the south
elevation of the house. The two-and-a-half story, five-bay wide, single-pile main block of the building has a two-and-a-
half story ell that projects from the north elevation nearly flush with the east elevation. This portion of the building sits on
a coursed rubble stone foundation. The first story of the wood frame main block and ell are clad in weatherboard, while
the second and attic stories are patterned with square butt and fish-scale wood shingles. A two-story shed-roofed
extension projects from the north elevation of the main block. A one-story addition with a shed roof was constructed on
the north elevation of the building. Circa 1965, a one-story enclosed porch was added to the north and east elevations of
the ell. The main block of the building has a side gable roof with a projecting, intersecting gable peak at the center. Two
gabled dormers flank this front-facing gable. A full-width, five-bay wide porch with a hipped roof spans the fagade. One
interior end brick chimney rises through the roof ridge of the west elevation. The east elevation of the main block is
bisected by one shouldered exterior end stretcher bond brick chimney. An off-center exterior end concrete block chimney
rises along the north elevation of the ell. To the northwest of the house is a circa 1910 barn. Three additional
outbuildings, both of which are non-historic, are in the vicinity of the barn. To the southwest of the house is a rectangular
in-ground pool that also dates to the latter half of the 20" century.

EXTERIOR DESCRIPTION

The fagade, or south elevation, is five bays wide with a central entry. The sash-and-paneled double-leaf door is flanked
by two 9/9 sidelights and surmounted by a divided transom of a 21-light fixed window flanked by two nine-light fixed
windows. Four 2/2 windows pierce the outer bays of the first story. The second story is regularly fenestrated, featuring
six 2/2 windows. The central two windows are set close together on a slightly projecting bay. Above these window
openings there is a small half-hipped roof supported by four shaped modillions. The front gable peak of the central bay is
pierced by two multi-light fixed lunettes. The dormers feature 24/2 vinyl windows. With the exception of the dormer
windows, all window openings have wood surrounds and sills. Dominating the fagade is the five-bay wide porch. The
half-hipped porch roof with a central front-facing gable with a flush wood tympanum is supported by turned wood posts
with shaped corner brackets. A geometric wood balustrade that resembles Chippendale-style fretwork joins the posts
together.

On the east elevation of the main block there are two 2/2 windows that flank the central exterior end chimney at each of
the two main stories. Two one-light fixed windows flank the chimney at the attic story. The second story of the ell,
visible above the circa 1965 enclosed porch, is pierced by two 2/2 windows. The enclosed porch has a stretcher bond
brick foundation and half-wall. The space above the wall is entirely glazed. The wall is divided into three equal sections
by mullions, and each section is divided into nine one-light awning windows. The south side of this porch is glazed with
two rows of three one-light awning windows and pierced by one sash-and-paneled door that opens onto a small set of
brick steps that descends to the ground.

The north elevation of the main block is pierced at the first story level by one 1/1 window and at the second story by three
one-light windows. The north elevation of the ell features a central 2/2 window beside the exterior end concrete block
chimney. The one-story addition to the main block is pierced by paired; leaded 24-light double-leaf casements with
leaded 24-light fixed transoms. One sash-and-paneled door and nine one-light awning windows above a stretcher bond
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brick half-wall pierce the north elevation of the enclosed porch. The west half of the porch is clad in flush vertical board
above the half-wall.

Two 2/2 windows pierce the first story of the west elevation. The second story of the west elevation features two 1/1
vinyl windows. The attic story is pierced by two one-light lunettes that flank a paneled wood mullion. The shed
extension to the main block, which sits on a panel-faced cinderblock foundation, is pierced at each of the first, second, and

attic stories by one small 1/1 vinyl window.

INTERIOR DESCRIPTION

The dwelling’s interior features a central-passage plan with a wide entry hall flanked by two parlors. The stair rises
laterally to the north of the west parlor. To the north of the L-plan entry hall, there is a small rectangular study. The
kitchen is positioned within the ell. The entry hall is wide, and from it two sets of paneled double-leaf pocket doors open
into the two parlors. The window and door casements in the entry hall are molded with paterae cornerblocks. An original
eight-and-one-half inch molded baseboard surrounds the perimeter of the room below circa 1960 paneled wainscot with a
molded top rail. In addition, the entry hall features a molded wood cornice. The two-and-one-quarter-inch wood
floorboards are a replacement of the original flooring. The closed-string, framed newel stair ascends to the west from the
north end of the entry hall. The turned newel post is four feet tall with a ball finial. Turned and waisted balusters support
the molded handrail.

The ornament in the two parlors is nearly identical. The replacement wood floorboards continue from the entry hall into
the two parlors, where the crown molding and mantles are also late 20" century additions. Each room features a circa
1935 Colonial Revival style mantle with an urn and garland motif flanked by shaped brackets that support a shallow
mantle shelf. The original window and door casements are molded with paterae cornerblocks. The original baseboards,
like those of the stair hall, are eight inches tall and molded.

The study, located at the north end of the entry hall, is an early 20" century addition to the building. The rectangular
room features built-in bookshelves and cabinets that were constructed in the mid-1980s. The leaded windows in the room
are replacements that had been salvaged from another building. The paneled double-leaf pocket doors that provide entry
into the room replace the historic French doors. The replacement window and door casements are molded. The
replacement flooring is a continuation of that which spans the entry hall and two parlors.

The kitchen, which is located in the ell, was remodeled in the mid-1960s. The floors are finished with vinyl sheeting.
Square stainless steel tiles clad the lower half of the walls, which are then plastered above the tiling. The room features a
dropped acoustical tile ceiling, metal cabinetry and a built-in oven and range, all of which date to the 1960s.

A significant portion of the second floor is being rebuilt. Two chambers located above the entry hall and west parlor have
been stripped of their interior finishes and reveal the wall studs and third story joists. The remaining rooms of the second
story all feature plaster walls, wood floorboards, and molded door and window casements.
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The basement features finishes and some decorative elements added in the 1950s and 1960s. The concrete floor was
poured in the early 1950s, and a fireplace was added in the late 1960s. The fireplace surround is composed of a limestone
veneer over fieldstone.

OUTBUILDINGS

The circa 1910 wood frame barn is a small T-shaped structure. The main block of the barn has a side gable roof clad in
sheet metal. The roof is centrally pierced by a small, square ventilator with louvered wood openings on the sides and a
pyramidal roof. Attached to the side of the barn is a rectangular chicken house clad in flush vertical board siding with a
front gable roof clad in sheet metal. There are two small round-arched door openings and one flush vertical board single-
leaf door on the front of the building. The foundation of the structure was not visible at the time of the survey.

The circa 1980 four-bay wide cinderblock garage, located between the house and barn, has a side gambrel roof clad in
asphalt shingles. The structure features three vehicle bays with roll-up metal doors. An exterior end cinderblock chimney
bisects the north elevation of the garage. A central gabled wall dormer projects from the facade and features a cross-
braced flush vertical board double-leaf door.

To the east of the barn is a circa 1960 well house. The one-bay rectangular wood frame structure is clad in grooved
plywood siding and has a side gable roof clad in asphalt shingles. The fagade is centrally pierced by one flush single-leaf
door flanked by two screened one-light window openings. The building sits on a wood post foundation.

A small, square doghouse is located within a chain link enclosure to the east of the well house. The wood frame doghouse
has a shed roof.

To the southwest of the house is an in-ground swimming pool with a concrete deck and patio. The circa 1980 pool is
surrounded by a wood fence.
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8. Significance Inventory No.BA=t584—
Period Areas of Significance Check and justify below
__ 1600-1699 __ agriculture __ economics __ health/medicine __ performing arts
__1700-1799 __ archeology __ education __ industry __ philosophy
_1800-1899 X architecture __ engineering __invention __ politics/government
X 1900-1999 __art __ entertainment/ __landscape architecture __ religion
__ 2000- __ commerce recreation _law ___ science
___ communications __ ethnic heritage __literature __ social history
___community planning  __ exploration/ __ maritime history __ transportation
__ conservation settlement __ military __ other:
Specific dates Circa 1891 Architect/Builder Unknown

Construction dates  Circa 1891

Evaluation for:

X National Register X Maryland Register not evaluated

Prepare a one-paragraph summary statement of significance addressing applicable criteria, followed by a narrative discussion of the
history of the resource and its context. (For compliance projects, complete evaluation on a DOE Form — see manual.)

The dwelling known as Valley View Farm is located at 324 Gun Road in Election District One, along the border of
Election District Thirteen in Baltimore County.' The property is located near Avalon and the site of Dorsey’s Forge and
the later Avalon Nail and Iron Company. The property was originally part of a twenty-acre tract purchased by Frank
Hildebrandt from John C. Smith, along Sulfur Spring Road. The Hildebrandts constructed a dwelling shortly after
purchasing the property from Smith’s widow in 1880. In 1895, the Hildebrandts defaulted on their mortgage loan and the
property was sold at public auction to Eugene Grannan in 1899. Soon thereafter, the property became known as Valley
View Farm. After successive ownership by the Gambrills, Ehlens, Wrights, Dames, Schaars, and the Longs, the property
passed to the Baldwins, who currently retain ownership, in 1954. Valley View Farm is fashionably detailed in the Queen
Anne style.

HISTORY

The property known as Hildebrandt House, and later Valley View Farm, was located along what is now Gun Road, which
forms the border between the First and Thirteenth Election Districts. Previously the property was part of a much larger
365-acre tract of land owned by John Chandler Smith, known as Waveland, which straddled Sulfur Spring Road.” By
1915, Bromley's Atlas of Baltimore refers to the parcel as the property of the Ehlens. The Thirteenth District, of which the
property is physically associated, is a 13.86 square mile area bounded on the east by the Middle Branch of the Patapsco
River, on the south by the Patapsco River, and on the west by District One and Baltimore City. Gun Road, located in a
section of the District known as Avalon, extends approximately one mile through rolling hills and wooded terrain. The
road is said to be named for its construction as a route of troop and supply movement from Philadelphia to Virginia by
George Washington. * It begins at Rolling Road, crosses The Baltimore and Ohio Railroad tracks, and extends through the
Patapsco Valley State Park to the Patapsco River, which defines Baltimore and Howard Counties. Originally known as
Avalon Forge Road, the name was changed after an 1868 flood. Due to the river, the land was extremely fertile and

' The Hildebrant property appears to obtain the name Valley View Farm soon after Hildebrandt releases ownership due to a mortgage
default in 1899. The Maryland Historical Trust Inventory refers to the property as Young House. However, it appears the
Elomcnclaturc is erroneous as the Young name does not appears in any of the found historic documentation or deed research.

“ The property appears on the 1877 Atlas of Baltimore County, Maryland, (Philadelphia, PA: G.M. Hopkins, 1877), Thirteenth
District.

3 Lucy Merrill. “Gun Road—Cannon Track to Suburb” History Trails Newsletter. Baltimore County Historical Society. Volume 29.
Spring-Summer 1995, p.1
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numerous crops, including tobacco, were cultivated in the area and shipped from Elkridge, the port city located across the
then navigable river. The area was also a manufacturing haven, beginning in 1761 with the establishment of an iron forge
by Caleb Dorsey, who was also a part owner of the Elkridge Furnace. Dorsey’s Forge, located in what is today the
Patapsco State Park, produced crowbars, which were said to be the only iron tools produced entirely in Baltimore
County." The property was later sold to the prominent Ellicott milling family and in 1822 the Avalon Ironworks Company
was said to have been established, which produced nails, iron barrel hoops, and train rails. > With the company’s
incorporation, the area began to be referred to as Avalon. A small picturesque village, with dwellings and a church,
emerged with the success of the industries, although many of the buildings were destroyed in the 1868 flood. The
Baltimore and Ohio and the Potomac Railroads, which criss-cross the area, were particularly influential in the settlement
and the economy.

Due to the railroad, which also provided passenger service, and seven trains a day, to Avalon Station until 1949, numerous
dwellings began to appear, many of which were subdivided from the land holdings of John Chandler Smith. The area
became a popular retreat from city life in Baltimore and many built summer and weekend homes in the nearby wooded
hills. This growth was described in a Towson new clipping dated 1891, which states: “Quite an extensive colony has
grown up in the Thirteenth District known as Avalon. The place is situated on the Avalon Forge Road, which leads from
Catonsville to Avalon Station, on the B. & O. R.R., and through the personal efforts of Mr. A. Robinson White, a well
known and prominent member of the Baltimore bar, who moved from the First District of Howard County, several
advantageous lots have been effected. Mr. White built a neat house for himself, and by his example was the means of
encouraging a general and steady improvement. Among the purchasers were Mr. Frank M. Hildebrandt, who secured 20
acres of land, and is now putting a handsome dwelling and stable on it, and will reside on the property throughout the

2 6
year.”

Originally constructed circa 1891 by Frank Hildebrandt, Valley View Farm was designed in the Queen Anne Style, which
was popular in America from 1880 to 1910. The style, which grew out of Victorian England under the influence of
architect Robert Norman Shaw, was poular in Americ after the 1876 Centennial Celebration in Philadelphia. The
identifying characteristics of the style include multiple gable roofs, projecting oriel windows, towers, use of varying
materials, multi-light windows, spindel-work, wrap-around porches, non-symmetrical fenestration, and an open plan.
Valley View Farm is a vernacular interpretation of the style, which includes a projecting center gable, turned-post
supported porch, various exterior cladding materials including fishscale and square-butt wood shingles, and multi-light
windows. In 1895, the Hildebrandts defaulted on their mortgage loan and the property was sold at public auction to
Eugene Grannan in 1899. The Gambrills sold the property to the Ehlens in 1908 when it was subdivided into two parcels,
according to a Baltimore News article. ’ After successive ownership by the Wrights, Dames, Schaars and Longs, the
property was purchased in 1954 by the Baldwins, who currently retain ownership of the 14.5-acres.”

* Merrill. “Gun Road—Cannon Track to Suburb™ p.1

’ Neal A. Brooks and Eric G. Rockel, A History of Baltimore County. (Towson, MD Friends of the Towson Library, Inc., 1979) p. 40.
® As quoted in Merrill. “Gun Road—Cannon Track to Suburb” p. 11

’ As quoted in Merrill. “Gun Road—Cannon Track to Suburb” p. 11. The News article is dated September 10, 1908.

¥ During the 1940s a small portion of the property was sold to Bess Fisher and Alma Spencer to build a weekend retreat cabin. As
described in Merrill. “Gun Road—Cannon Track to Suburb” p. 14
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Chain of Title:

September 27, 1890:

April 6, 1899:

December 8, 1899:

September 10, 1908:

April 23, 1919:

April 30, 1919:

December 31, 1928:

December 27, 1935:

Matilda Frances Smith, widow of John Chandler Smith, to Frank M. Hildebrandt
Land Records of Baltimore County
Liber JWS 181 Folio 493

Frank | Duncan, attorney in the default mortgage from Frank M. Hildebrandt to Eugene
E. Grannan, to Eugene W. Grannan

Land Records of Baltimore County

Liber 228 Folio 433

Eugene E. Grannan and Katherine M. Grannan to Albert Gambrill, Jr. and Anna G.C.
Gambrill

Land Records of Baltimore County

Liber 242 Folio 437

Anna G.C. Gambrill, widow, to Carrie K . Ehlen
Land Records of Baltimore County
Liber WPC 333 Folio 151

J. Purdah Wright, assignee in the default mortgage from Carrie K. Ehlen to Anna G.C.
Gambrill, to Josephine P. Dame

Land Records of Baltimore County

Liber 509 Folio 171

Josephine P. Dame and William Page Dame, husband, for Ella W. Putney
Land Records of Baltimore County
Liber 509 Folio 263

William Page Dame and the Virginia Trust Company, executor and trustee of the estate
of Ella W. Putney, to Leonard A. Schaar

Land Records of Baltimore County

Liber WHM 808 Folio 76

Leonard A. Schaar and Margaret Estella Schaar, wife, to Margaret Lang
Land Records of Baltimore County
Liber CWBjr 969 Folio 582
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December 27, 1935: Margaret Lang to Leonard A. Schaar and Margaret Estelle Schaar, wife
Land Records of Baltimore County
Liber CWBjr 969 Folio 584

September 27, 1954: Margaret Estella Schaar to Gary M. Baldwin and Ruth W. Baldwin, wife
Land Records of Baltimore County
Liber 2566 Folio 106

October 28, 1998: Gary M. Baldwin to Gary M. Baldwin and Thomas M. Baldwin, trustees of the Gary M.
Baldwin
Revocable Living Trust
Land Records of Baltimore County
Liber 13280 Folio 706
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9. Major Bibliographical References Inventory No. BA=t584~

Atlas of Baltimore County, Maryland. Philadelphia, PA: G.M. Hopkins, 1877.

Bromley's Atlas of Baltimore County, 1913,

Brooks, Neal A. and Eric G. Rockel, 4 History of Baltimore County. Towson, MD Friends of the Towson Library, Inc., 1979.
Carley, Rachel. The Visual Dictionary of American Domestic Architecture. New York: Henry Holt and Company, 1994.
Merrill, Lucy. “Gun Road—Cannon Track to Suburb.” History Trails Newsletter. Vol. 29. Spring-Summer 1995. No. 3-4.

Scharf, Thomas J. History of Baltimore City and County From the Earliest Period to the Present Day: Including Biographical
Sketches of Their Representative Men. Philadelphia, PA: Louis H. Everts, 1881. Reprinted by Higginson Book Company, Salem,
MA.

10. Geographical Data

Acreage of surveyed property 14.85 Acres
Acreage of historical setting Twenty Acres
Quadrangle name Relay Quadrangle scale: 1:24,000

Verbal boundary description and justification

The Valley View Farm is located at 324 Gun Road near Avalon in Baltimore County, Maryland as noted on Tax Map 108, Parcel
585 and in deed record Liber 13280 Folio 706. The house has been historically associated with the parcel since its construction in
1891.

11. Form Prepared by

nameftitle J. Bunting, A. McDonald, and A. Didden, Architectural Historians

organization EHT Traceries, Incorporated date February 18, 2001
street & number 1121 5th Street NW telephone  202.393.1199
city or town Washington state DC

The Maryland Inventory of Historic Properties was officially created by an Act of the Maryland Legislature
to be found in the Annotated Code of Maryland, Article 41, Section 181 KA,
1974 supplement.

The survey and inventory are being prepared for information and record purposes only
and do not constitute any infringement of individual property rights.

return to: Maryland Historical Trust
DHCD/DHCP
100 Community Place
Crownsville, MD 21032-2023
410-514-7600
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